KITSAP TRANSIT BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
MEETING MINUTES
DECEMBER 18, 2007

Board of Commissioners Present:

Abel, Kim, Mayor, City of Port Orchard, Chair

Angel, Jan, Kitsap County Commissioner

Bauer, Steve, Kitsap County Commissioner

Brown, Josh, Kitsap County Commissioner, Vice-Chair
Brockus, Adam, Bremerton City Councilmember
Kordonowy, Darlene, Mayor of Bainbridge Island
Maupin, Will, Bremerton City Councilmember

Quade, Kathryn, Mayor, City of Poulsbo

Board of Commissioners Absent:
Bozeman, Cary, Mayor, City of Bremerton

Staff Present:

Cartwright, Jeff, Human Resources Director

Clark-Getzin, Wendy, Planning and Capital Programs Director
Clauson, John, Service Development Director

Gustafson, Ellen, ACCESS and Non-Routed Operations Director
Hayes, Richard, M., Executive Director

Knox-Browning, Cathie, Clerk of the Board

Shinners, Paul, Finance Director

Swanson, Colby, Vehicle and Facilities Maintenance Director
Templeton, Ron, General Counsel

Visitors Present:

Coppola, Lary, Port Orchard Mayor-elect

Chinick, Suzanne

DePew, Chuck, National Development Council consultant on New Markets Tax Credits
Kincaid, Beverly, President, Marine Transportation Association of Kitsap

Martin, Brian, 2007 ACCESS Driver of the Year

McLoughlin, Norm, Kitsap County Consolidated Housing Authority

McClure, Mary, Kitsap Regional Coordinating Council

Sawyer, Carla, Progressions, Inc.

Sisk, Steve, 2007 Routed Driver of the Year

1. CALL TO ORDER: Chairperson Abel called the meeting to order at 9:24 a.m.

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

1



2. CHAIRPERSON'S COMMENTS / DISCUSSION:
a. Recognizing the Routed and ACCESS Drivers of the Year
Chairperson Abel called on KT staff to introduce the ACCESS and Routed Drivers of the Year.

Ms. Gustafson said the ACCESS Driver of the Year, Brian Martin, has been Driver of the Month five
times and has been with KT since 2002. She said one of his goals is to travel all around the country in a
motor home and that he has had good training for that. His most memorable moment was when a
passenger said he was getting on her nerves. He must have been a little too pleasant, Ms. Gustafson
said. His advice to other operators is to always have a smile and be friendly. He also said he likes to
ride his motorcycle in all kinds of weather.

Applause followed these remarks.

Mr. Martin said he and his fellow drivers all work together and enjoy what they do, taking care of
passengers and helping widows and orphans.

Applause followed these remarks as well.

Next, Mr. Cartwright introduced the 2007 Routed Driver of the Year, Steve Sisk. Mr. Cartwright said
Mr. Sisk has been with KT since 1991 and has been Driver of the Month four times. Everyone in
Routed was ecstatic when they heard Steve was Driver of the Year, he said. Mr. Cartwright noted that
Mr. Sisk’s hobbies are varied and include fishing and racing and anything outdoors and he said that
what he personally enjoyed the most, outside of the interaction at work, was Mr. Sisk’s photography.
Mr. Cartwright also said Steve has al6-year safe driving award and he is great with customers and very
proficient.

Applause followed these remarks.
Mr. Sisk said that when he first came to work for KT in 1991, he was not sure he was going to be a bus
driver, because he had never worked as a bus driver. But he said it turned out all right, and that he does
enjoy it.
Chairperson Abel thanked Mr. Sisk for his safe driving record.
Applause followed these remarks.

b. Recognizing the Routed and ACCESS Drivers of the Month for November. The honorees were

not in attendance.

At this point, one of the items from Staff Information was moved to this point in the agenda;
Item 9 d. Information on potential use of New Markets Tax Credits for POF purposes.

Chairperson Abel noted board members had information on this item on the dais.

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

2



Mr. Hayes said this is an effort to bring forward a complex issue that will require a great deal of
additional study. He said he thought it would be best to begin briefing the board now, and to have Mr.
DePew and Mr. McLoughlin here to talk about the details, if needed.

Mr. Hayes said the New Markets Tax Credits (NMTC) proposal could be a lifesaver for the entire KT
Passenger Only Ferry (POF) program, but that many of its aspects need proving out to make sure the
proposal will work. He said what he is presenting today represents several weeks of work already
integrating what we know about this program with Federal Transit Administration (FTA) requirements,
which in themselves are just a part of the larger picture. He noted here that the NMTC program is a
Kitsap County Consolidated Housing Authority (KCCHA) funding source for which local officials are
exploring an application to KT’s POF program.

Mr. Hayes said he would try to point out areas of uncertainty or areas needing follow up and he asked
that board members do the same and he likened the learning curve on the NMTC approach to that faced
by car-buyers when they buy a hybrid vehicle and are told they have also gotten a tax credit along with
a new vehicle. Eventually, he said KT may need to separate the Bremerton portion of the agency’s
POF program from the Kingston and Port Orchard portions, but, for now, the three geographic areas are
grouped in order to have sufficient in-district credits to use the NMTC program.

He noted that the Kingston POF program is, at this point, better funded but would rely on the Port
Orchard service area to accumulate enough in an NMTC-zone activity to qualify. Mr. Hayes said it
may be that operations funding for these foot ferry activities could be provided by private operators.
He then asked Mr. DePew to come forward to explain what tax credits and new market tax credits are.

Mr. DePew, who said he works for the National Development Council (NDC), identified himself as a
consultant working with the KCCHA and its NMTC allocation. He explained that KCCHA first
applied for federal NMTC funds in 2003 and received an award of $40 million worth of allocations.
He said the authority, since then, has been putting those dollars out into eligible communities and that
the NDC has been assisting the authority in finishing this task.

Mr. DePew said the key element of NMTCs, which also happens to be the most unusual element, is that
tax credits rarely are used in government. He said they are almost exclusively private, and cited what
he said are likely the most well-know type of tax credits; for hybrid vehicle purchases and for child
care in national income tax returns. Mr. DePew said the intention is to provide low-cost capital to non-
profits working in low-income communities. He said that is what makes NMTCs different from
hybrid-vehicle or child-care tax credits. In addition, an NMTC program can also provide lower-cost
investment capital to real estate and businesses that generate at least 50% of their sales and services
from the low-income community identified as the geographic beneficiary of the NMTC program as
defined by the federal government based on poverty rates from the 2000 census.

Mr. DePew said KCCHA’s NMTC program is investing in specific geographical areas in the
downtown areas of Bremerton and Port Orchard, which are eligible based on their poverty rates. He
said he is in front of the transit board today because, under the tax code, non-profits such as the Marine
Transportation Association of Kitsap (MTAK). He said MTKA is an eligible recipient as an
intermediary, even though KT cannot receive these funds directly. While he noted that it is unusual for

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

3



a non-profit to be treated as a business to receive the credit, his organization is seeing, nationwide, a
number of other non-profits using the NMTC in new ways. Locally, he said the organizations, using
this approach include the Seattle YWCA and Boys and Girls Club, and FareStart. The tax credits are
being used for parking garages, for example, using redevelopment agencies as borrowers. He said that
where government functions use non-profits to carry out portions of their missions, NMTCs can be
employed to benefit that mission.

Mr. DePew said NMTCs make federal credits available to investors, who in turn are allowed to offset

their federal tax liabilities by that credit, and, because they get a benefit from the federal treasury, they
don’t have to earn back as much from their investment. For example, if one raises a million dollars, it
only costs $610,000, he said. This arrangement also provides investors with the flexibility of low-cost
rates, and also allows for some of the investment equity to be put back into other projects.

Mr. DePew said the non-profit aspect of the business of operating the ferries could be eligible for
NMTCs if 51 percent of the sales and services of POF derive from eligible locations. Thus, we began to
ask, how do you house a ferry system? The answer is that we have the dock areas, the time in transit,
and, looking at eligible areas, we have the connection from Port Orchard to Bremerton and downtown
Seattle, which is also NMTC-eligible. In a sense, the time the boat is in those three areas makes it
eligible, Mr. DePew said, and, conversely, the time the boat is outside the eligible census tracts is not
eligible for the NMTC program. Mr. DePew said the POF effort at this point needs to determine which
census tracts are NMTC-eligible in Puget Sound and how often the boat is in those census tracts. Once
we have that information, we can work with Washington DC counsel for NMTC, which is Nixon-
Peabody, to confirm if POF is an eligible business or not. If it is eligible, then KCCHA, on behalf of
the NMTC program, could then make a loan or investment to KT s POF program that could reduce the
capital costs of the boats. He said NMTC funds could also possibly be used to underwrite some of the
operations costs for POF.

Commissioner Maupin asked if where the business generates the income affects where they collect
tolls.

Mr. DePew said the key is that it has to meet sales and service tests. We assume sales would be
collected on the Kitsap side, but we have to look at the services provided, where the boat and sales are
on the water and how much of the POF program’s time is out of the area.

Commissioner Bauer asked what role the non-profit plays? He also asked how the money gets to the
transit district as a non-profit?

Mr. DePew said the premise that we have been working under is that the non-profit could be the owner
of the boats. We would provide financing to the non-profit to enable it to buy the boats, discounting
the cost of the boats. The non-profit could have an operating agreement with transit or with someone to
operate the boats, in order to separate the operating portion from the capital costs. If we could do a
loan to both, we could make a loan to the operating business and to the non-profit that owns the boat, to
reduce its capital costs, he said.

Mr. Hayes said that, until recently, the Marine Transportation Association of Kitsap (MTAK) owned
the bulk of the Bremerton Transportation Center. He noted that MTAK was used in a similar manner

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

4



to bridge the gap between KT, the ferry system and the Port of Bremerton to get the BTC built. This
isn’t a new type of endeavor, it is really just another chapter for MTAK, he said.

Commissioner Bauer asked how you get operating money out of what is basically a loan.

Mr. DePew said we would end up working monies in various ways to bring low-cost financing for the
operation of the boats, then the revenues collected would offset or pay back the operations of the boat.

Commissioner Bauer asked if NMTC programs were intended to allow money for operations, as
opposed to construction?

Mr. DePew said the NMTC program was originally envisioned as a source of capital for inner-city real
estate and businesses. He noted that the current situation with the Port Townsend boats has brought to
light the fact that the state sold the depreciation losses of the ferries; WSF sold the tax benefit the
ferries created and now the state cannot benefit from the value those ferries should represent. But, he
noted that the state, like other owners of real estate, do this because it generates money to the capital
account.

Mr. DePew said the idea is that, because of this federal program, the housing authority has lower-cost
funds that it can pass through to eligible businesses. We see the non-profit MTAK as being that
possible business it can own assets. The real key is that we can provide low-cost financing, using public
funds in a way where they may be lent, and we are getting federal tax credits on that, he said. The math
on this, Mr. DePew said, is that the non-profit would receive capital funds and would only have to
service the debt on 75% of it, and then only with a low, estimated 1% interest rate. He said this brings
dollars into the project, to pay for the boat, and that those dollars don’t have to be repaid. Thus, if the
boat costs $1 million, at the end of the day with the NMTC, it really only costs $700,000, provided the
recipient of the NMTC funds operates the eligible facility or equipment for seven years.

Mr. DePew said the background here, in terms of funding levels and timing, is that KCCHA has to get
the balance of those funds out the door by the end of February or it loses them as well as its eligibility
to apply for the next round of NMTC funds. Mr. DePew said KCCHA has $16 million worth of
eligible 2008 funding available and is therefore looking at other projects in downtown Bremerton and
Port Orchard where this funding can be used. In theory, we have dollars available that could be
invested in the spring of 2008, he said.

He also said the real key for limitations on use of NMTC funds is that the non-profit has to be eligible
to use the funds now and for the next seven years. Then, at the end of that time frame, the non-profit
can revert to whatever structure was envisioned in the first place, regardless of whether the non-profit
or the government ends up owning and operating the beneficiary of the NMTCs.

So far, on KT’s POF program, Mr. DePew said we have been looking at the capital costs of all the
boats from the Kitsap side and the dock facilities necessary. He said there has been no analysis yet
regarding operating funds as local officials are waiting on the opinion from the DC attorneys mentioned
earlier. In terms of the payback requirements for MTAK as a non-profit, Mr. DePew said the program
would be looking at very low-cost loans, most of which would not have to be repaid in full.
Nonetheless, at the end of year seven, the POF operator would have to be able to generate revenues to

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

5



support its operations and to pay for some of the debt service, which is now estimated to be $83,000 a
year.

We all know that in the fast ferry business, we have not had a clear business model that works, which
has kept investors from investing in POF, Mr. DePew said. But if something goes wrong, we need to
have answers for the investors here, Mr. DePew said. If POFs are not viable, our next step would be
looking at other (private) operators who could use those boats and keep the payments current for seven
years. At that point, we would be in a default situation and we would have more flexibility under
federal rules as to how assets are used to maintain the loan that has been financed through NMTC. So,
if there are problems with a POF application, in year seven we would roll it up and get out as best we
can, he said. If the assets are sold, and he noted here that from a NMTC standpoint, that could not
happen within the original seven years, and if boats were liquidated, KCCHA gets its money back and
has 12 months to put the money into another activity. Similarly, if this POF application did not work
and we took back or liquidated the boats, we have to ask if we would be able to find other projects in
Kitsap County, he said.

Commissioner Bauer asked what would happen if the plan doesn’t work, the boats are liquidated and
you don’t get money back?

Mr. DePew said that would be OK, depending on where the money comes from. The hard money that
needs to be returned is the public money available for capital. The equity dollars do not have to be
returned as long as the program operates for seven years. At the end of day, it is the public lenders we
need to be concerned with, he said.

Commissioner Bauer asked who would be left holding the bag if this does not work, and who would be
responsible?

Mr. DePew said the responsible party would be the source of the public funds, likely the capital funds
that have already been identified so far for buying the boats themselves.

Mr. Hayes said the simplest example would be in Kingston, where to get $5 million you would have to
put up $3.5 million or approximately 70 percent. He said that example cannot proceed now because
those federal funds are tied up with agreements on the SR 520 bridge-tolling project.

Mr. DePew said there is no doubt this is a creative use of NMTC funds in terms of an operating venture
rather than a capital venture on behalf of public agencies. The eligible non-profit here is MTAK, we
have an investor who is interested in being involved because of the uniqueness of the plan, and we have
lawyers who are cautiously optimistic, he said. But we still have to see if this meets all the new
markets tests, and we have to worry about the roll up. At the end of the day, we would hope to provide
public funds that would have already been used for capital funding for the boats, so we are still using
them for capital but just reducing the costs of the capital. In addition, this approach also contemplates
that the public funds not needed for capital can be used for operating. Mr. DePew said for that to work,
we also have to ensure the program endures for at least seven years. He said there are some outs, if
something goes wrong, but that it should be determined whether the POF program can operate for
seven years as well as whether it has a plausibility of paying even a nominal debt service in seven
years.

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

6



Mr. DePew said this is an interesting use of the NMTC program, and we think it can work, but there
remain legal issues to be resolved, and we still need to confirm the service hours of the boats.

Commissioner Kordonowy asked about the switch to decision-making bodies involved with this. She
noted that Mr. DePew mentioned KCCHA as having NMTC, but she said she thought KCCHA had its
own governing board on the NMTC board, which was a separate governing board from the housing
authority.

Mr. DePew said the NMTC governing board is the KCCHA board, and that there is a separate non-
profit, called Basic, which acts as a limited partner with the housing authority in some of its
transactions.

Commissioner Kordonowy asked if there would be another, separate decision-making body if the
NMTC program is extended to KT and MTAK? If MTAK is the non-profit for this program, what is
MTAK s relationship with the KT board, who are all the players and how does this work?

Mr. DePew said the two key decision-makers are KCCHA and KT, because the KT board has to feel
confident enough to get engaged in this NMTC conversation and the dollars come out of transit in one
form or another. He said MTAK needs to make its own decisions as a conduit for KT, but that these
are really KT’s capital dollars and potentially KT’s operating dollars helping to make this system work.
He said KCCHA does not need to get involved until the KT board has decided to pursue this.

Mr. Hayes said there is also a third decision-maker here, the Federal Transit Administration, and that
KT is already drafting letters to them about this proposal. He said that while the FTA has allowed KT
to engage in similar projects previously, this effort is somewhat more complicated and requires more
explanation. Mr. Hayes said FTA disposition of federal property rules seem to work well with the
disposition requirements for NMTC. He also said KT staff are presuming the agency will still have to
meet sole-source requirements, prepare documents justifying the use of alternative financing methods
and work through a number of other issues.

Commissioner Brown said he had some operations questions. He noted that while Mr. Hayes and Mr.
DePew have been talking about a seven-year horizon, it was his understanding that this is just a general
proposal for Kingston-downtown Seattle service, Bremerton-downtown Seattle service and Port
Orchard-Bremerton service, and that another option would be to focus solely on the Bremerton-Seattle
run. Mr. Brown said he would hope that service on any of those runs would last more than seven years.
He also said he heard Mr. DePew say we need a long-term operating solution past that seven-year
mark.

If this plan is to provide service for seven years, Mr. Brown asked Mr. Hayes if operating statistics,
cost-per-passenger, etc., were available for the desired number of runs? If those are not ready now, he
asked when the KT board would have that information?

Mr. Brown said that if this is a plan to provide only morning and afternoon service from these locations
for a seven-year horizon, it seems like a pretty good thing.

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

7



Mr. Hayes said that while KT has basic POF information, that data has to be reformulated to respond to
the NMTC requirements. He said that KT knows how many riders it had on its POFs at similar fare
levels during the failed Bremerton and Kingston service experiments and that there would generally be
enough riders at a reasonably high fare for this to pencil out.

Mr. Hayes said the Port of Kingston has done a lot of work on this because it wishes to free up
$900,000 and that this NMTC approach could probably accomplish that. He said the Port of Kingston
is currently proposing that at the end of four years, with a declining annual operating subsidy, that the
Kingston-Seattle POF service would be self-sufficient. But, with this money, we may be able to be
more conservative, decline the operating subsidy more slowly and stretch the self-sufficient mark to
seven years. But that may be difficult as Kingston is contemplating initially only one round trip in the
morning and one round trip in the evening.

He said KT has already done the work on qualifying for NMTC in terms of operations within the
required geographical areas, compared to the time the boats will spend outside of the eligible areas, and
that KT could support two round trips in the morning and two in the evening. But, he said KT only has
one boat, plus a spare, for the Bremerton-Seattle and Bremerton-Port Orchard runs, and that it is almost
impossible to get good ridership on the edge of a peak if you put your first really powerful trip at the
peak of the peak. Nonetheless, Mr. Hayes said there is a good chance that over seven years, running a
boat to Seattle once in the morning and once in the afternoon, would create a break-even program. He
said KT will proof the numbers again and bring them back to the next board meeting.

Commissioner Brown said it appears then that if there was an additional NMTC allocation next year,
we could potentially double the runs, if it made sense to do so.

Mr. Hayes said that could work, if the service grew slowly. He also said it might be next year before
anything could happen in Kingston because of the federal funds availability issue. But, he said that the
general concept is that if the first peak trip is self-supporting, you can look at another one.

At this point Chairperson Abel asked about the remaining items on the agenda and asked what the
estimated time would be for the remainder of the items on the agenda.

Mr. Hayes said that after short executive session, the rest of the agenda would go pretty quickly. He
said the board could afford another 15 minutes on this topic.

Commissioner Brockus asked if, for the local POF ferry, this would only affect the Bremerton-Port
Orchard service, and not the Annapolis run?

Mr. Hayes said KT can look at additional census information for other geographical areas outside the
downtowns of Bremerton and Port Orchard, to see if the Annapolis area to the east of Port Orchard
would qualify. He said that while the downtown Bremerton area could support use of NMTC funds to
either Port Orchard or Annapolis, the income characteristics change dramatically past the Beach Drive
area in Port Orchard

Commissioner Brockus asked if the hours for the local foot ferry would remain the same or be
expanded?

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

8



Mr. Hayes said the calculation was structured around the existing hours for this proposal, to be
conservative.

Referring to the financing chart on page eight of the board handout, Commissioner Brockus asked
where the 8.5 percent loan was going?

Mr. DePew said it would go to KCCHA.

Mr. Hayes said the reasons behind using NMTC funding for KT s POF program are pretty self-
explanatory because they have been KT goals for some time. Time has become an issue vis-a-vis the
Bremerton-Seattle run because KT is trying to put together enough money to secure a slot to build a
low-wake boat to test by mid-2009 in the timely manner proposed to the federal government in the
grant that is now funding the Rich Passage wake wash study. The urgency for the Bremerton program
does contrast with the situation in Kingston, where the Port is waiting for its federal allocation to make
its way through the federal grant paying process.

Mr. Hayes said KT will need additional money to make the Bremerton boat purchase work, so the
agency will propose, separately, to move the $1.2 million that had been proposed for the Newberry Hill
park-and-ride lot to the boat purchase. He explained that KT owns the site but does not have sufficient
funding to finish a park and ride lot. While a separate decision, moving those funds would be crucial to
having sufficient funds to secure the boat-building slot, he said, noting that those funds must be at least
named to the Bremerton boat project by March or April.

Commissioner Kordonowy asked about the operational costs of this for KT and if there are other
resources to keep this from affecting other transit operations?

Mr. Hayes said KT has been looking at this with MTAK, and because it appears this NMTC approach
can be self-funding, it could pay for MTAK’s expenses. Attorney’s fees, as Mr. DePew mentioned, can
be built in, so he said he is hoping the cost to KT would only be in the time he spends pursuing such
projects, which he noted he would feel compelled to do anyway. Mr. Hayes said it is his goal that this
is a financial wash, such that KT is not spending money that would be otherwise directed to the
agency’s other purposes. We will try to prove that as we go forward, he said.

Chairperson Abel noted the small amount of time left in the meeting, but she said she also wanted to
know if this effort will detract from KT’s efforts for bus service to the community? She said the board
needs to see this so it can support the NMTC proposition. Chairperson Abel said this is not clear to her
now and is cause for concern. She also said that she believes POF remains a great idea, but that she
also is aware that KT has to continue to provide transit service, keep it going and try to make it even
better.

Mr. Hayes said this NMTC proposal would assist KT’s overall operating costs long-term as the tax
credit funds could be used to secure all three boats needed for the Bremerton-Port Orchard service
known as Kitsap Transit Foot Ferry (KTFF). He said that when it is time for KT to go out again for a
contractor to operate KTFF service, it would be financially beneficial if the agency could avoid leasing
the contractors’ boats, as it is doing now. He said the board would see a benefit to KT overall in this

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

9



regard.

Chairperson Abel said that by the January transit meeting, the board should have the information,
noting that would be the drop-dead date for the board making a decision on the NMTC program.

Mr. Hayes said he had believed that KT had until March or April to prove out the NMTC ideas, but that
Mr. DePew’s comments today indicate more urgency.

Mr. DePew said the key timing issue, in talking with tax credit investors, is in pre-funding the balance
of the authority’s NMTC allocation by the end of February. He said the investors need to have some
sense of what we are doing with the allocation, so they know that if we close on the balance of $16
million, we have the projects for the investments and that these projects will get to the finish line by
December of 2008.

Mr. Hayes said he believed that this was more a framework decision at this point, rather than a final
decision. He said he believed that could be done.

Commissioner Kordonowy said her Bainbridge Island community is facing midday transit service
cutbacks, so it is hard to explain to customers, to people who are gung ho on transit and POFs, how one
is not dragging down the other. She said this issue is important for her to understand, and that she
would like to meet further with Mr. Hayes to discuss it.

Mr. Hayes suggested the agency work on preparing a description that makes sense to everyone and
perhaps either pair a workshop with the January board meeting or extend that meeting for an hour
exclusively for the purpose of discussing the NMTC proposal.

Commissioner Maupin said he understands the concerns that have been articulated and that he believes
that the easiest way to accomplish this is to set it up like an enterprise fund, with MTAK so that the
NMTC project operates on its own, without any crossover from KT operating funds.

Mr. Hayes replied that it will have to be set up that way if the board elects to pursue this NMTC idea.
He said that while KT will have input, it will not have any direct control and won’t own the assets.

Commissioner Maupin said all that will need to be made very clear when it becomes part of the public
discourse via the news media.

Commissioner Bauer at this point said he wanted to make three points. First, as was discussed in the
KCCHA board meeting earlier today, he said he believes this is an inappropriate use of NMTC for the
housing authority, and that it strays from the authority’s core mission. He said he has read through the
NMTC materials, and he doesn’t think this is something the housing authority should be involved in.
Secondly, Commissioner Bauer said he believes that this is a significant issue and that, next time, he
would like the information about such a significant issue made available sooner than the day before the
board meeting. Commissioner Bauer said his third point is that this is an intriguing kind of plan, but
that the KT board should not be doing this because of a housing authority deadline. He then said he has
been asking for KT’s POF plan since he came on board and has never seen it. Commissioner Bauer
said that as a member of the housing authority board, he is aware that there are other potential

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

10



applicants, and he asked how this fits into the bigger picture? He said there are lots of issues involved
and because there have been a number of POF failures, we cannot afford to have more of them. He
said how this plan fits into the overall KT picture has never been discussed.

Commissioner Angel said she agreed with all of Commissioner Bauer’s comments.

Mr. Hayes said KT is continuing to pursue its last published POF plan and that he would send copies of
the plan we have been following to Commissioner Bauer. Mr. Hayes said that while he made some
small amendments to the POF plan in the latter half of 2007, no major changes have been made to the
plan since the board last endorsed it shortly before the unsuccessful sales tax election in February of
2007. Mr. Hayes said KT probably needs to update the plan at this point, as others, including the FTA,
will want to see it as well. We really have continued to just pursue the old POF plan, he said.

Chairperson Abel said the new wrinkle in the POF plan involves helping the Kingston run in a different
way. She noted that in the past, KT has been focusing on maintaining the wake wash research;
specifically being able to use federal funds to buy a boat and finish the research, as well as hoping
during that time to figure out POF funding so that the service could actually start. This NMTC
approach also represents a new wrinkle, but she said she does not recall discussing any other
amendments, other than making sure we are looking at opportunities to federally fund the vessel for
research to finish up that work. Chairperson Abel said the main point of the research is to prove that
we are not causing wake damage on beaches in Rich Passage and elsewhere.

Mr. Hayes said that while Kingston was not removed from KT’s POF plan, the agency did not have the
funding resources to operate POF at Kingston and was not able to obtain any federal funding earmarks
for that service until just recently. He said the Kingston remains in the plan, which is why he has been
collaborating with the Port of Kingston on its federal grant of $3.5 million for POF. In contrast, the
part of KT’s original POF plan that is no longer being pursued is operating foot ferries from
Southworth in south Kitsap. Mr. Hayes also noted that the agency’s POF plan includes the Kitsap
Transit Foot Ferry (KTFF) local service in south Kitsap, from Port Orchard and Annapolis to
Bremerton, including dense rush-hour service as well as off-peak service. He said KTFF will remain in
KT’s long-term POF plan and that the NMTC approach may well assist the local service.

Commissioner Maupin said he is really concerned about KT having another go at POF service at
Kingston and Bremerton and failing. He said it is important to make sure we have a really good plan
and that he has some strong concerns about NMTC. This is huge for Bremerton, Commissioner
Maupin said, because if we don’t get those NMTC funds committed we cannot guarantee the ability to
apply for more NMTC funds in the future. He said there will be many projects coming up in the future
that the tax credits could be used to fund.

Commissioner Brown said the POF component was part of the housing authority’s original NMTC
application. He said the NMTC program has been a powerful tool for Bremerton and for Kitsap
County and that the community is in danger of losing a $17 million allocation if we do not use it. This
is part of the solution to using those allocations and getting another large batch of NMTC funds in the
next round, Commissioner Brown said.

Commissioner Kordonowy said she wanted to return to the question of a decision deadline, and

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

11



referred to Mr. DePew’s comment that a commitment on this NMTC proposal is needed in February.
She asked what that commitment would look like and whether the KT needs to approve a resolution or
other device?

Mr. DePew said the real timing issue lies with the investors, who are at risk of recapture if we can’t get
the NMTC dollars out the door. The investors need to know that this is real enough that we can close
by December of 2008, he said, but that they are not looking for resolutions, authorizations or other
legal commitments from KT. Rather, Mr. DePew said the investors need to see that enough of the
details have been worked out to support a plausible belief that if we go forward with some number of
tax credits from the allocation for POF, we are going to make it to finish line. Other than that, the
investors require no specifics, he said. They would like to have all the dollars in place and everything
ready to close, but he said the investors believe in KCCHA, so they are willing to give us some latitude.

Commissioner Angel said she believes this involves a lot more than merely using up tax credits by
February of 2008.

Mr. DePew said one thing he has learned in the NMTC business is that you can look at the subsidy
provided by the credit, and while that is useful, the real issue is the operating plan. For example, when
we were looking at our hotel project, the capital dollars were the least of the issues. The more important
question was whether the hotel would survive, be viable long-term and operate for at least seven years.
Thus, he said the real issue for POF application of NMTCs is whether there is an operating plan to
make the project successful. There can be all kinds of back-up plans, but the problem to solve is on the
operating side, because that is what the investors have to believe in for seven years. Mr. DePew said
the NMTC program can make KT’s POF plan as inexpensive as possible for the agency but that the
program cannot entirely solve the operating issues. This is what we are all going to be grappling with.

Mr. Hayes said he is asking the board for permission to continue to work on this project in order to
provide the board with enough information to make a well-informed decision. He apologized for only
making the information available yesterday, on Monday, but that Friday had been the first time that all
the actors; KT, its attorney, Mr. DePew, and the MTAK officers and legal counsel had been able to get
together to start puzzling this out. He also said he would try to provide the board with updates in the
coming weeks so that there will be no big surprises at the next board meeting.

Commissioner Maupin asked if this NMTC effort will reduce the capital cost of the boats enough for an
operator to make money, on fares only, without another subsidy?

Mr. Hayes said that is one of the questions KT has to answer. One way to find that answer is to get the
private operator to look ahead and provide a multi-year estimation of what the fares would be. If the
fares only fall short by 15% to 20%, that’s going to get us enough money to operate, he said. We know
the operating costs, so we can look at that and show you that if you can take the fares and build off
them and get another 30% that way, then you can make it.

Commissioner Kordonowy said, in terms of board guidance and keeping in mind Commissioner
Bauer’s comments, she believed KT should continue to pursue NMTCs funds for POF through January
and determine what work can be accomplished to make the case. There is a lot at stake and a lot of
work to do, she said. She then asked if a motion requesting that KT continue to work on this was

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

12



necessary?

Mr. Hayes said he is comfortable pursuing this approach with the understanding that there is a lot of
work to do as quickly as possible.

Commissioner Kordonowy asked to hear again from Commissioner Bauer, noting his earlier hesitation.

Commissioner Bauer said again that he believed the housing authority ought not to be in the business of
using NMTC credits for POF, and that he also wanted to see how NMTC fits into the overall POF plan
because he doesn’t now see how it does. There is no low-wake ferry and the wake-wash studies are not
completed, he said, so how can there be a commitment to purchase and operate more ferries when we
don’t even know if the first one will work? He also said he did not understand how to make the
guarantees the investors want, that he doesn’t know what the required performance looks like or how
this fits with the broader issue of expanded ferry service that might be operated using another financing
source. Commissioner Bauer said he would be happy to have further discussion on these matters.

Chairperson Abel said that it appeared to be the general consensus to move forward and generate
answers to the questions from Commissioner Bauer.

3. CITIZENS' ADVISORY COMMITTEE ISSUES:

Mr. Clauson said the CAC did not meet in November, but that it had reviewed the November agenda
items at its December meeting. He said the only action the committee took was in reference to the
2008 budget. The members went through it in a fair amount of detail, he said, and concurred with the
board’s adoption of the budget.

4. CONSENT / ACTION ITEMS:
a. Approval of MINUTES of November 20, 2007 Board Meeting
b. Approval of KITSAP TRANSIT VOUCHERS for November, 2007

Voucher numbers 00738 to 01230 issued by Kitsap Transit from November 1, 2007
through November 30, 2007 in the total amount of $1,517,626.27, payroll transfers from
November 1, 2007 through November 30, 2007 in the amount of $1,370,497.26, transfers
for debt service obligations from November 1, 2007 through November 30, 2007 in the
amount of $276,181.29 and Automatic Clearing House transfers from November 1, 2007
through November 30, 2007 in the amount of $5,500.00.

Commissioner Kordonowy moved to approve the consent agenda and Commissioner Angel
seconded the motion. Chairperson Abel called for those in favor of the motion to accept
the amended consent agenda. All voted yes. Chairperson Abel called for those opposed to
the motion. There were none. She called for abstentions. There were none.

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

13



5. PUBLIC COMMENT on Discussion Items

Chairperson Abel called for public comment on the discussion items. There was none.

6. EXECUTIVE SESSION: Personnel

At 10:21 a.m., Chairperson Abel announced the board would go into Executive Session for 10 minutes
for the purpose of discussing personnel. The board returned to open session at 10:31 a.m., took a brief
break and resumed the open portion of the meeting at 10:32 a.m.

7. FULL DISCUSSION / ACTION ITEM:

a. RESOLUTION 07-52 authorizing Kitsap Transit staff to retain CushmanGale LLC as
legislative liaison and consultant to support Kitsap Transit’s interests in both the general

transit as well as the passenger-only ferry areas relative to state legislative activity in
2008

Mr. Hayes said this firm has done a wonderful job for KT. He said their efforts, aligned with
those of Vancouver and other communities to make the High Capacity Transit legislation
work, is going very well. He said he hopes to continue the course with them.

Commissioner Angel moved to approve Resolution 07-52 and Commissioner Quade
seconded the motion. Chairperson Abel called for those in favor. All voted yes.
Chairperson Abel called for those opposed to the amendment to the motion. There
were none. She called for abstentions. There were none.

b. RESOLUTION 07-53 authorizing Kitsap Transit staff to extend the legal services
contract with Ronald C. Templeton for one additional year

Mr. Hayes said Mr. Templeton’s help will be invaluable this year as it has been in the past.
He said we will need strong local representation in the next two months just in the NMTC
project we talked about earlier.

Commissioner Kordonowy moved to approve Resolution 07-53 and Commissioner
Maupin seconded the motion.

Commissioner Quade said she appreciated that Mr. Templeton had not requested a rate
increase.

Chairperson Abel called for those in favor of the motion. All voted yes. Chairperson
Abel called for those opposed to the amendment to the motion. There were none. She
called for abstentions. There were none.

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

14



c. RESOLUTION 07-54 authorizing Kitsap Transit staff to enter into a legal services
contract with Summit Law Group for one year

Mr. Hayes said this is a crucial moment for this contract with Summit as KT makes great use
of one of its principals, and one of the acknowledged leaders in the region in the labor field,
Bruce Schroeder. He said Mr. Schroeder’s help will be very important in the complex and
difficult contract negotiations recently underway with the Amalgamated Transit Union, KT’s
primary union.

Commissioner Kordonowy moved to approve Resolution 07-54 and Commissioner
Angel seconded the motion.

Commissioner Kordonowy said after watching and listening to the advice given to Kitsap
Transit, the City of Bainbridge Island has also entered into an agreement with Summit Law
Group. She said she finds them very honorable in their work and in serving the interests of
both the city and its employees.

Chairperson Abel called for those in favor of the motion. All voted yes. Chairperson
Abel called for those opposed to the amendment to the motion. There were none. She
called for abstentions. There were none.

d. RESOLUTION 07-55 authorizing Kitsap Transit staff to enter into a professional services
contract with Ben McMakin of VanNess Feldman LLC

Mr. Hayes said Mr. McMakin is with the Washington DC firm that represents KT on
congressional issues and that its help will become even more crucial to KT over the next
year. He said Mr. McMakin has helped KT tap into some new funding sources and has
helped to redirect funds to finish the tunnel. Mr. Hayes said that after the tunnel is complete,
more funds will be available to continue to help KT support both POF and bus service pretty
equitably and that Mr. McMakin will be very important to KT over the next few years in
accessing those funds.

Commissioner Kordonowy asked if KT is paying for part of tunnel?

Mr. Hayes said there would have been more federal Ferry Boat Discretionary funds available
if a substantial amount had not been diverted for cost overruns for the tunnel project. He
noted that KT received the first tunnel grant, although not for the current tunnel project, and
that the agency handed over those funds to the state Department of Transportation as part of
the build-out of the Bremerton Transportation Center. That was a long time ago, but, in a
way, it was transit money, he said.

Commissioner Brockus moved to approve Resolution 07-55 and Commissioner Bauer
seconded the motion. Chairperson Abel called for those in favor. Seven board members

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

15



voted yes. Chairperson Abel called for those opposed to the motion. Commissioner
Angel voted no. She called for abstentions. There were none.

e. RESOLUTION 07-56 authorizing Kitsap Transit staff to enter into an Interlocal
agreement with the Port of Bremerton concerning installation of a passenger-only ferry
operations and service float in Bremerton

Mr. Hayes said he wanted to take this opportunity to thank the Port of Bremerton for its
collaboration on this project. He said the Port would have had to spend several million
dollars to build a float large enough to fulfill the project need, so that using the massive float
KT owns was definitely a benefit for them. In addition, KT will benefit both in terms of
dollars and time, from having this float already in place in Bremerton when POF service
restarts. The way construction costs are escalating, Mr. Hayes said, even a reasonable rate of
interest on the dry-docked float would have been less that what it will cost the agency to
install it four or five years from now.

Commissioner Brockus said he would abstain from voting on this resolution as he is
employed by Art Anderson Associates, the firm that worked on this design, and that he had
also worked on the design project for AAA.

Commissioner Bauer moved to approve Resolution 07-56 and Commissioner Quade
seconded the motion. Chairperson Abel called for those in favor. Six board members
voted yes. Chairperson Abel called for those opposed to the amendment to the motion.
Commissioner Angel voted no. She called for abstentions. Commissioner Brockus
abstained.

f. RESOLUTION 07-57 to express appreciation to retiring Transit Board member Kim Abel
Mr. Hayes said he wanted to thank Mayor Abel for being a great chairperson. He said her
timely albeit difficult questions had been a great help to the board. He then presented

Chairperson Abel with a fare box and said the board would miss her.

Chairperson Abel said she would put it to use by having her sons put money in it to get into
the refrigerator at home.

Applause followed these comments.
Commissioner Quade moved to approve Resolution 07-57 and Commissioner Brockus
seconded the motion. The other board members in attendance also seconded the

motion.

Commissioner Kordonowy said she believed it would be appropriate to read the entire
resolution into the record and recited the first two whereas clauses.

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

16



Commissioner Maupin took over to read the third whereas.
Commissioner Angel read the fourth whereas.
Commissioner Brown read the penultimate paragraph of the resolution.
Commissioner Quade read the last paragraph of the resolution into the record.
Chairperson Abel called for those in favor. All voted yes. Chairperson Abel called for
those opposed to the amendment to the motion. There were none. She called for
abstentions. There were none.

8. PROGRESS REPORTS:
a. Draft Financial Reports — October, 2007

b. Ridership Reports — October, 2007
c. Fuel Costs Reports — through the end of November

Mr. Hayes said fuel in October reached a high of $2.87 a gallon and this week was down to
$2.58 a gallon. We have no way of predicting what it might be, he said, but he noted the agency

budget for fuel in 2008 at $2.70 a gallon, so the end-of-year cost for 2007 looks like we hit a
good target.

9. STAFF INFORMATION / DISCUSSION ITEMS:
a. Taxi RFQ
Mr. Hayes said this stands as read.

b. Report on 2007 United Way Campaign

Mr. Hayes said the agency’s 2007 goal for the campaign was $25,000 and that KT raised
$26,000.

Chairperson Abel gave her congratulations and asked if there were any questions on the staff
information items remaining on the agenda.

c. Adding stalls at Liberty Bay Presbyterian Church Park-and-Ride lot
Commissioner Quade asked if the increase in stalls was sparked by nearby construction.
Mr. Hayes said the agency is adding more parking stalls here in response to demand for the
existing parking spaces at this park and ride lot. He said the current peak in parking demand
may be a result of construction workers parking there but that this addition is part of a longer-

term plan, which estimates increased demand long-term.

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

17



Ms. Clark-Getzin said KT had thought the lot was as large as it could be, but found out from the
church that it could add another 25 spaces on the other side of the church. She confirmed the
current squeeze is a result of construction workers parking there, and noted that KT has asked the
DOT to ask its contractors to park elsewhere. Ms. Clark-Getzin said that in the long-run, these
additional 25 stalls will help develop the Hostmark area when there is a better transit bus stop
there.

Staff Information agenda items held over from the November Transit Board meeting

Electric Bus program

POF Funding

KT Funding for the EDC

Final report on the Great Weigh Off

Half-hour service

Additional information on different colors (by city) for new bus stop signs

o e A

Chairperson Abel asked if Commissioner Brockus had questions on the remaining staff
information items.

He said he did not, other than to comment that the Kitsap Health District has not publicly
mentioned anything about the Great Weigh-Off.

Commissioner Bauer said he had no questions at this point.

Commissioner Brown said he wanted to add a new item here for the good of the order, and he
thanked Mr. Hayes and KT staff for running emergency bus service in the Seabeck area during
the recent storms. He noted that after he called Mr. Hayes, KT had ACCESS bus service set up
in that area right way, with service every hour to get people into town. Commissioner Brown
said the lesson he learned here is that the KT board needs to have more discussion on how to use
KT for similar emergencies that might come up. From Hansville to Olalla, there are a lot of
places where there is only one way in or out for people, and that is something we will eventually
have to deal with down the road, he said. Commissioner Brown said his hat was off to Kitsap
Transit.

Commissioner Angel seconded that. She also said that one of the problems during the storm was
transportation for residents when SR 3 closed in Gorst and that she wanted to thank KT for
getting those people on the Port Orchard ferry and then providing connections for them with
buses. She said that service was very much appreciated.

Chairperson Abel said she had clearly seen that in the wonderful letters to the editor in the Kitsap
Sun. She noted that KT figured out a way to be flexible and work things out, which was part of
its emergency training, and which provided all the board members with an idea of how
emergency response should work. She said this would be key in the event the Agate Pass Bridge
to Bainbridge Island was compromised. Chairperson Abel also said she had used the foot ferry
also on the storm days when she could not drive through Gorst and witnessed Mr. Hayes staffing

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

18



the Annapolis site himself, helping people find the right bus.
Commissioner Kordonowy said she had no questions.

Commissioner Maupin said that when his daughters, who live in Seattle, attended a recent First
Friday Art Walk in Bremerton, they found out what POF service would be like for them, in
trying to work in Bremerton and live in Seattle. He also said he heard a lot of kudos for KT from
the young people, who wished there were POFs to Seattle and commented that the bus service on
this side is fantastic.

Commissioner Quade expressed her pleasure to have been able to work with Mayor Abel, and
she noted how much she had learned from the Port Orchard mayor and how much Mayor Abel
had brought to all the boards on which she worked. Commissioner Quade said she wanted to
personally thank Chairperson Abel for all she has done for the county.

Commissioner Brockus said he wanted to note that when SR 3 at Gorst was closed, traffic at the
BTC increased as a result, ultimately causing traffic standstills in and around the ferry terminal,
KT staff used their ingenuity and created a temporary transfer center outside the glutted zone,
lining up buses on Fourth Street, getting all the ferry riders off and to their homes. He offered
his compliments to KT. He also said he wanted to thank Mayor Abel for her service.

Mr. Hayes said he needed to thank KT s operations staff for the work-around solutions board
members have noted. He said that KT has managed to craft a culture where staff, if they find
they have big problem, fix it and tell the boss about it later. He said it was very important to let
his ingenious staff just do those things.

Chairperson Abel said she appreciated KTs flexibility and intelligence in solving problems. As
Commissioner Brown had said, the agency responded even before he knew there was an issue to
be solved.

10. ADJOURN At 10:51 a.m., Chairperson Abel adjourned the meeting. This is not good-bye, she
said, just adieu, and she wished everyone a Merry Christmas.

ADOPTED by the Board of Commissioners of Kitsap Transit at a regular meeting thereof, held
on the 15" day of January, 2008.

Josh Brown, Chairperson
ATTEST:

Cathie Knox-Browning
Clerk of the Board

Kitsap Transit Board of Commissioners: Minutes of December 18, 2007—APPROVED

19



